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Financial Highlights

“From a full year results perspective, 2011 is the first full year following the company’s turnaround plan in 2010 and displays a strong return to profitability. 
FY2011 net income came in at a whopping KD10.6 million with an even more impressive FY2011 EBITDA margin of 31.2% (an exceptionally high figure in 
the aviation industry).”

- NBK Capital ‘Analyst Comment’, on March 7, 2012

- Center for Asia Pacific Aviation, on March 16, 2012

“Jazeera Airways Group has spent the past 24 months undergoing one of the most comprehensive restructuring and turn-around programmes in the industry, 
transforming its results from deep losses to record profits and marking out a clear path for a sustainable future.”  

Up 14 times from 2010’s KD1mUp 36% from 2010’s KD42.6m Best results since inception

JAZEERA AIRWAYS ANNUAL REPORT 2011
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Chairman’s Letter

Dear Shareholders,
I am pleased to report that Jazeera Airways Group’s financial performance 
in 2011 was the company’s best year in history. The company registered a 
record KD10.6 million in net profit with an earnings per share of 48 fils, a 
record KD57.8 million in revenue for the year, up 36% from last year, and 
a record KD14.9 million in operating profit for the year. I am also pleased 
to share with you that the Board has recommended a 10% bonus shares 
distribution.

The results reflect the success of the company’s Turn-Around Plan that was 
rolled out in the second quarter of 2010 and has successfully steered the 
company into continued profitability for the last six quarters, five of which 
realized record-breaking earnings. These results give me great pride in 
every member of our team for their dedication and commitment in ensuring 
this feat possible in such a short span of time. (The Turn-Around Plan is 
discussed in detail in the following pages).

The year 2011 was a significant year on many fronts.  We watched the 
Arab Spring extending into several of the cities we serve. We were subject 
to substantial fuel hikes in the first and last quarters. We even witnessed 
an airline from our own home market shut down, which inadvertently led 
to uncertainty and apprehension to be cast on our young privately-held 
aviation sector. Yet it was our responsibility to restore confidence to the 
sector.

We noticed that the market overcapacity situation continued to be a 
hindering factor in the performance of airlines. In my letter to you last 
year, I had shared with you that 44% of the seats that were flown on our 
routes by our competitors were flown empty in 2009, and that in 2010 
that number grew to 51%. The overcapacity situation has not seen any 
significant improvements since then. In fact it only dropped to 42% in 2011, 
trailing by just two percentage points from 2009’s 44%.

But despite all these challenges, including the overcapacity challenges, the 
year 2011 was a record-breaking year. Today, your company has a solid 
network with the right frequencies and size, higher yields, increasing load 
factors, a reduced cost structure, and a high aircraft utilization in addition 
to a fully-owned aircraft leasing arm with assets deployed across the 
globe, from the US to the Middle East to Asia. Your company today has 
a sustainable business model that has generated sustainable profitability 
quarter-on-quarter for six quarters in-a-row. And the best is yet to come.

2011 in review
We had three key priorities in 2011. First, building on the momentum of 

the record-breaking returns seen in Q3 and Q4 2010. Second, successfully 
mitigating the impact of the political unrest on the business. And third, 
capturing a strong market share on the long-awaited Kuwait-Cairo route 
that was launched in May 2011.

To secure the momentum, the company concentrated on optimizing 
its flight schedules to the benefit of passengers while maintaining high 
aircraft utilization. The company also supported its operation with continued 
investment in marketing, advertising, and experience-enhancing initiatives. 
While at the same time, boosting yields without cannibalizing the load 
factor.

The second priority was to reduce the impact of the political unrest 
on the business, firstly in Egypt, then Bahrain and later in Syria. The 
company activated the Jazeera Airways Emergency Response Team (ERT) 
with round-the-clock monitoring of each situation, keeping a close eye 
on the developments that might impact the safety of the airline’s crew, 
passengers, and assets at all times. To reduce the commercial impact on 
the business and compensate for the temporary drop in demand, capacity 
was redeployed by increasing flights to other cities that witnessed a surge 
in demand as alternative destinations. Specifically Dubai, Jeddah and Cairo. 

The company’s third priority for the year was to make sure that the newly 
launched and long-awaited Kuwait-Cairo route was kicked off to a great 
start by focusing on marketing activities to attract demand in a post-
revolution market. The results were very positive.  Jazeera Airways secured 
an 11% market share in the first two weeks, 23% market share in the first 
four weeks, and maintained an 18% market share during the slow post-
summer travel season. 

2011 was a challenging year but a record-breaking year as well for Jazeera 
Airways. Our priorities for 2012 are to grow load factors, while maintaining 
high yields and we believe we will be able to achieve this goal because, as 
I said earlier, we do have the right network with the right capacity, the right 
product for our market, and a tried and tested team that has successfully 
navigated the company through the last two years and with flying colors.

The company’s outlook for 2012 continues to be positive in-line with a 
growing Kuwaiti economy, which continues to witness higher incomes 
despite international and regional economic pressures. As the region 

returns to calm, we look forward to the continuation of our strong performance.

20102011

Financial Highlights
2011 vs 2010

Revenue

Operating Profit Margin

Operating Profit*

EBITDA Margin

Cost

EBITDA

Net Profit/(Loss)

57.8 m

42.9 m

14.9 m

10.6 m

25.6%

21.5 m

31.2%

42.6 m

41.6 m

1.0 m

(2.8) m

12.4%

7.1 m

16.7%

Marwan M. Boodai
Chairman

*Includes G&A expenses
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CEO’s Report

Dear Shareholders,
Last year was the year of truth for us to deliver on our internal Turn-Around 
Plan (TAP). We were able to increase the yield every month in the year 
and ended up with a 46.36% net yield increase over 2010 (KD43.79 versus  
KD29.92). This was driving the overall revenue performance with a 28.8% 
increase over 2010 despite 22% less seats offered in the market. Less seats 
offered and less sectors flown helped us to decrease our overall cost by 
6.4% against the previous year. This cost reduction came in at the right time 
as we had a 14.4% higher fuel bill to pay because of the rising fuel prices. 

Our CASK excluding fuel went down by 18.1% against last year. Together 
with a RASK increase of 46.4%, this led us to an operating profit margin of 
+11.6%. And this is certainly up there with the best global airlines in 2011. 

airline Operational Highlights
The overall result for 2011 was an operating profit of KD5,849,725 against 
a loss of KD8,473,977 in 2010. This was achieved with 22% lower seat 
capacity and 12% less passengers, but at a 46.36% higher yield. Our current 
break-even load factor is now around 57%.

A new network and a more customized schedule helped us to consolidate our 
operations, and to improve our market share on the major regional routes 
to and from Kuwait.  We were able to capture the leading market share on 
five routes to Egypt (Alexandria, Luxor, Assiut, Sharm-el-Sheikh, Sohaj) and 
to build up an 18% share to and from Cairo, despite only operating there 
for little more than half a year. We were also market leaders to Damascus, 
Aleppo and Deir Ezzor. On the routes to Beirut, Amman, Mashhad, Bahrain 
and Dubai, we were the leading Kuwaiti airline.

We also fine-tuned our business model to fit the needs of all customer 
segments. In February, we introduced all inclusive free food for the Economy 
Class and later in the year, we revamped the Business Class catering 
concept to introduce monthly changing menus and implemented a waste 
reduction system at the same time.  From August onwards, we decided to 
re-fresh our onboard catering on a monthly basis, offering a different set of 
menus for Economy Class guests every month. We outsourced our in-flight 
entertainment to a specialized media production house in Kuwait, which 
now supplies us with changing monthly content.

A key driver to change the customer perception away from the “low-cost” 
equals “low thrills” to a true regional network airline was changing the 
baggage allowance first for the Economy Class from 20kg to 40kg, and 
then for the Business Class from 40kg up to 60kg. The increased baggage 
allowance helped us gain significant market share on some routes.

Finally, in November 2011, we introduced Jazeerati, our very own loyalty 
program, to the market. We have preliminary indications that this program 
might give us another significant push into the frequent flyer segments. 
In sales, we further changed our sales mix and for the last year, around 
40% of our revenues were generated by travel agents. In some markets, 
we have started to sell via GDS in order to get the exposure and distribution 
leverage. This will also help us in the future to enhance our market share in 
the corporate travel markets.

Our aircraft utilization was at 11.94 block hours per day at the same level 
as 2010, negatively impacted by the number of tactical cancellations we 
had to implement due to the political situation in some of our major 
destinations.  But, we reached all major operational Key Performance 
Indicators (KPI’s), starting with a 95% OTP (on-time performance), which 
is the best in the MENA region for 2011. Other operational targets like the 
technical dispatch reliability (99.54%), the aircraft availability (29 days/
month) as well as only three mishandled bags per 1,000 passengers were 
all in-line with our targets. 

Our overall cost performance was negatively impacted by the significantly 
higher fuel price, but we nearly compensated this impact with productivity 
increases in other areas: a 5% lower fuel burn, a 13% lower pilot and cabin 
crew sets, 12% lower support and 5% lower overhead cost.  

The IOSA certification was completed in January and finally led us to become 
the IATA member 236 in May 2011.

Outlook 2012
As TAP has been completed by the end of 2011, we have now escalated into 
a new business phase for Jazeera Airways. In an increased volatile market 
environment, we have to make sure that our future plans and targets 
are achievable and sustainable. And, we have to be able to evaluate and 
manage all growth opportunities in a professional way.

Phase 1: Rightsizing of the core and seasonal market capacity
The operating fleet size was reduced from 11 to six aircraft in 2010. Excess 
aircraft were redeployed and leased out to leading international carriers 
including Virgin America and SriLankan Airlines.

Phase 2: Prioritize profit over growth
All loss-making routes and frequencies were cut out of the network as early 
as mid-2010. Only routes with a sustainable potential year-round profitability 
were kept as the core network, and frequencies were reduced to the best 
possible schedules.

Phase 3: Revise fleet plan and aircraft orders 
Jazeera AIrways Group had an order with Airbus for 40 aircraft, and since 
this order no longer made sense under our new strategy, we successfully 
renegotiated the scale down of our order from 40 aircraft to 15 aircraft. As of 
February 2012, we have received 12 aircraft and the remaining three aircraft 
are scheduled for delivery in 2013 and 2014. This reduction enables growth 
within the current network and aids in replacing aging aircraft in time. We 
thank Airbus for their support.

We have to build our future on a solid business model and a proven network, 
which we will further refine in the coming year 2012. We hope to achieve 
further yield improvement, a slightly higher load factor and significantly higher 
operational profits.  In order to do so, we will need to conserve our cost base 
at the current level and cash in on an increased revenue performance. This will 
be achievable through leveraging in our existing pricing power in all market 
segments, growing into a broader customer base and aiming for profitability in 
each month in 2012. 

Stefan Pichler
Chief Executive Officer

Average Yield
(3-year quarterly view)

TAP: Phases and Objectives

JAZEERA AIRWAYS ANNUAL REPORT 2011

Stefan�Pichler
Chief�Executive�
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The year 2010 was a landmark year for Jazeera Airways Group.  We had 
just come out from our first loss making year, a loss that was mainly driven 
by the excess capacity that was dumped in our market in 2009. And when 
we thought the issue was capped, we saw even more capacity dumped 
on our routes in 2010.  To put things in perspective, 44% of the seats that 
all airlines offered on our network were in fact flown empty. In 2010 that 
figure grew to 51%. Though this was the airline environment in the Middle 
East, we knew that we had to develop a strategy to offset the impact of the 
overcapacity on our routes and a plan was developed by the management 
team to turn it around. The team constructed the plan with three key 
objectives: 1. Operate with the right capacity by redeploying excess aircraft 
and cutting routes that aren’t profitable year-round 2. Prioritize profitability 
over growth and turning this premise into a core corporate value, and 3. 
Revise the fleet plan and aircraft orders to take into account this new market 
dynamic. Other objectives included the development of fare propositions 
that deliver the best value in a simple fare structure, creating a market 
driven sales network and promoting management excellence through task-
based teams.

The strategic approach we developed was called the Turn-Around Plan 
(TAP) and it was carefully executed in 2010 and 2011. It started with the 
redeployment of excess capacity of five aircraft. These five aircraft were 
placed with leading international airlines through Jazeera Airways Group’s 
fully owned leasing company Sahaab Aircraft Leasing (Sahaab). Sahaab was 
acquired by Jazeera Airways in February 2010 to manage the company’s 
long-term capacity opportunities and requirements. 

TAP began yielding results immediately and above our expectations. In the 
first three months of TAP, Jazeera Airways Group reported a net profit of 
KD4.4 million for the third quarter, which was then our best quarter on 
record.

Six months into the plan, Jazeera Airways Group closed the fourth quarter 
with a KD2 million in profit. This was the first time that Jazeera Airways 
closed two consecutive quarters with positive results at the net and 
operating levels. The earnings were a clear sign to the market that the 
airline is well into sustaining a profitable operation.

In the end, the Turn-Around Plan worked to ensure that we have a profitable 
business every quarter. We now have the right capacity, the right network, 
the right cost structure and the flexibility to weather both business and 
political turbulence in the Middle East, and above all, we have a world class 

aviation team to navigate the company through future challenges should 
they arise. 

In 2006, 2007, and 2008 Jazeera Airways was the only profitable airline in 
Kuwait and one of the few profitable airlines in the Middle East. In 2010, 
we had a record-breaking second half.  Today, we’ve been profitable for six 
quarters in a row, five of which saw record profits for the Group.  As we 
close 2011 with KD10.6 million in net profit we reclaim our status to being 
the only profitable airline in Kuwait, and one of the few profitable airlines 
in the Middle East.

But, the year 2011 was still a recovery year, despite being profitable.  
We are determined not to rest on our laurels but instead ensure that our 
successes are capitalized and well invested for continued and sustainable 
profitability. In order to achieve this, the management team developed a 
Strategic Master Plan (STAMP) for the coming three years, starting with 
2012.

STAMP is a comprehensive strategy that lays out the company’s directions for 
achieving sustainable profitability and best-in-class industry benchmarks. 
The plan aids the management team in tackling the challenges and 
opportunities that lie ahead in the next three years, ensuring that the 
growth opportunities are well understood, managed and capitalized. 

STAMP is in sync with our vision to be the Airline of Choice in the MENA 
region, by offering best value, great services and competitive fares to all 
customers, making us the value leader for our customers, our people and 
our shareholders. This falls well in line with our mission to achieve best-
in-class industry margins and to be consistently profitable all year round.  
A mission that will be achieved by employing the highest commercial 
effectiveness and world class operational efficiency as well as a continuous 
flow of innovative products and services.

STAMP OBJECTIVES

• Increase load factors from 66% in 2012 to 68% in 2014
• Operate the 19 destinations for the first 3 years, with moderate
   increase thereafter
• Enhance yields 
• Leading market share with same fleet capacity

As evidenced by the objectives, the core of our strategy is to increase unit 
revenue with the current capacity and without sacrificing yields, therefore 
enabling us to be well-positioned in delivering this objective. We have 
and will continue to enhance the existing business model, capturing all 
additional revenue streams while achieving best-in-class margins in the 

core airline business. 

Furthermore, our new simple and all-inclusive fare structure has enabled customers 
to benchmark Jazeera Airways fares at any point in time against our competitors. 
This and a consequent day-to-day monitoring and micro-managing pricing helped 
to decrease the price delta against the main competitors. Our approach to revenue 
management in the last year has resulted in above-benchmark results, and we aim 
to continue building our pricing structure to become a price setter in certain travel 
periods and on certain routes.

The revenue management is also developing a more sophisticated up-sell fare 
structure, which does not mean that fares will become more complicated for the 
consumer, but instead, it will be a structure that will lead towards a more fluid 
pricing approach and capacity fine-tuning of the fare buckets.

The approach is key to the success of STAMP over the next three years, and our 
communication strategy has an integral role in delivering it. Boosting interaction 
and experience at all customer touch points is a key component of STAMP. From a 
customer point of view, every experience should be simple, satisfying and effective. 
From the airline’s perspective, every touch point and provision should work towards 
building up and positively moulding the Jazeera Airways brand perception in the 
minds of all customers and consequently increase their loyalty.

Strategy Discussion: From TAP to STAMP

How we went from a record loss in 2009 and to record and 
sustainable profits in 2011, and how we intend to continue 
to sustain our profitable performance every quarter.

2014f2013f2012f2011

STAMP fleet plan

Leasing fleet

Airline fleet

Total fleet

Destinations

6

5

11

18

6

6

12

19

8

6

14

19

8

7

15

19
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Corporate Governance

The Board holds four formal meetings a year, one of which serves 
to review and approve the strategy and financial plan for the next 
financial year. Additional meetings are held as required. The Board also 
meets with the Executive Management to consider matters of strategic 
importance.

The Board is responsible for setting and reviewing the strategic 
direction of Jazeera Airways Group and monitoring the implementation 
of that strategy by the Executive Management, including:

• Promoting ethical and responsible decision-making. 

• Monitoring compliance with all relevant laws, tax obligations,  
  regulations, applicable accounting standards and significant corporate
  policies.

• Overseeing the Jazeera Airways Group, including its control and  
  accountability systems.

• Approving the annual operating budget and monitoring the operating    
  and financial performance of the Jazeera Airways Group. 

• Approving and monitoring the capital management strategy, including
  major acquisitions and divestitures. 

• Appointing and removing the Chief Executive Officer (CEO). 

• Monitoring the performance of the CEO and Executive Management,
  including the Chief Financial Officer (CFO). 

• Developing Board and Executive Management and succession 
   planning. 

• Ensuring a clear relationship between performance and executive
  remuneration. 

• Monitoring the Group’s system of risk management and internal
  compliance and control. 

• Ensuring that the market and shareholders are fully informed of     
  material developments.

Board Committees
The Board is committed to maintaining high standards of corporate 
governance, a process by which the Group is directed and managed, risks 
are identified and controlled and effective accountability is assured. The 
Committees established to maintain and ensure good Corporate Governance 
are as follows:

Board Audit Committee is responsible for assisting the Board in fulfilling 
its corporate governance responsibilities in relation to: The integrity 
of Jazeera Airways Group’s financial reporting, compliance with legal 
and regulatory obligations, the effectiveness of the Group’s enterprise-
wide risk management and internal control framework, oversight of the 
independence of the external and internal auditors, and implementation, 
monitoring, and evaluating internal controls.

Safety and Quality Committee is responsible for assisting the Board 
in fulfilling its strategy, policy, monitoring and corporate governance 
responsibilities in regard to safety, health, environment and security 
matters including: Compliance with related legal and regulatory obligations, 
implementing and monitoring enterprise-wide safety and quality checks. 

Remuneration and HR Committee is responsible for assisting the Board 
in fulfilling its corporate governance responsibilities with regards 
to remuneration matters including: The remuneration and incentive 
framework, including any proposed equity incentive awards for the CEO, 
any other Executive Directors, Executive Committee Members and Senior 
Executives. The Committee is also responsible for recommendations and 
decisions (as relevant) on remuneration and all incentive awards for the 
CEO, any other Executive Directors and Executive Committee Members and 
strategic human resources policies. The remuneration and HR committee 
also oversees (the iso) and MIPs. 

The Executive Committee is responsible for overseeing the commercial, 
financial and operational aspect of the both businesses (the airline and 
the leasing company). This is a Committee which involves members of the 
Board as well as the CEO and CFO.

Other Policies and Statements
Jazeera Airways Group also has formal policies and statements relating to 
its legal and other obligations to all legitimate stakeholders. These include 
areas such as safety, health, environment, security, employment practices 
and fair trading. Each policy is supported by procedures for compliance and 
monitoring effectiveness.

JAZEERA AIRWAYS ANNUAL REPORT 2011
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2003 
• Jazeera Airways gains approval from the
   Kuwaiti government.

2004 
• 03-Mar-04
   Jazeera Airways forms (under establishment) 
   with a target capital of KD10 million.
• 26-May-04
   Jazeera Airways kicks off IPO, first airline IPO in    
   the Middle East.
• 10-Jun-04
   Jazeera Airways concludes IPO, which was 
   oversubscribed 12 times.
• 11-sep-04
   Jazeera Airways commercial license issued by 
   the Ministry of Commerce.
• 10-nov-04
   Jazeera Airways Air Operators Certificate (AOC) 
   granted by Kuwait’s Directorate General for Civil 
   Aviation.
• 24-nov-04
   Jazeera Airways places its first aircraft order with 
   Airbus for four Airbus A320s.

2007 
• 29-Jan-07
   Jazeera Airways receives its fifth Airbus A320.
• 15-apr-07
   Jazeera Airways announces net profit of KD2.5 
   million in 2006.
• 18-Jun-07
   Jazeera Airways orders four new Airbus A320s
   aircraft at Paris Airshow.
• 28-Oct-07
   Jazeera Airways announces flights to Jeddah and 
   Riyadh. 
• 01-nov-07
   Jazeera Airways concludes rights issue and 
   increases capital to KD20 million.
• 27-Dec-07
   Jazeera Airways receives its sixth Airbus A320.
• 31-Dec-07
   Jazeera Airways carries 1.2 million passengers in 
   2007.

2005 
• 12-sep-05
   Jazeera Airways starts commercial operations. 
   The first seat is sold to Dubai.
• 24-Oct-05
   Jazeera Airways receives its first brand new      
   Airbus A320.
• 29-Oct-05
   Jazeera Airways operation is officially launched 
   by the then Prime Minister of Kuwait, H.H. 
   Sheikh Sabah Al-Ahmad Al-Jaber Al-Sabah.
• 30-Oct-05
   Jazeera Airways starts operations, first flight    
   takes off to Dubai.
• 31-Oct-05
   Jazeera Airways launches flights to Beirut.
• 10-nov-05
   Jazeera Airways receives second brand 
   new Airbus A320 from Airbus and launches 
   flights to Bahrain, Amman and Damascus.
• 21-nov-05
   Jazeera Airways increases aircraft order to six
   Airbus A320s, announced at the Dubai Airshow,
   and signs Lufthansa Technik for engineering and 
   maintenance.

2006 
• 04-Mar-06
   Jazeera Airways passes the 100,000 passengers 
   mark for the first time. 
• 26-Mar-06
   Jazeera Airways launches flights to Aleppo.
• 11-apr-06
   Jazeera Airways receives ‘Most Innovative
   Deal of the Year’ award by AirFinance.
• 01-May-06
   Jazeera Airways launches flights to Luxor.
• 03-May-06
   Jazeera Airways launches flights to Alexandria.
• 24-Jun-06
   Jazeera Airways receives its third Airbus A320.
• 08-Jul-06
   Jazeera Airways receives its fourth Airbus A320.
• 03-aug-06
   Jazeera Airways launches flights to Assiut.
• 05-aug-06
   Jazeera Airways launches flights to Mashhad.
• 20-sep-06
   Jazeera Airways resumes flights to Beirut after
   the 2006 war. First flight offered free to 
   passengers.
• 08-Oct-06
   Jazeera Airways receives shareholders approval 
   to increase capital by 100% (through a rights 
   issue) and the listing of the airline on the Kuwait 
   Stock Exchange.
• 30-Oct-06
   Jazeera Airways celebrates one year of 
   operations.
• 19-nov-06
   Kuwait’s Prime Minister Sheikh Nasser
   Al-Mohammad Al-Sabah signs a Jazeera Airways 
   aircraft in a ceremony to mark the airline’s one 
   year anniversary.
• 31-Dec-06
   Jazeera Airways passes the 600,000 passengers 
   mark in 2006.
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2008 
• 14-Jan-08
   Jazeera Airways lists on the Kuwait Stock 
   Exchange (KSE), making it the first listed airline 
   on the KSE.
• 16-Jan-08
   Jazeera Airways launches flights to Jeddah and 
   Riyadh.
• 02-Mar-08
   Jazeera Airways launches flights to Istanbul.
• 29-Oct-08
   Jazeera Airways receives its seventh Airbus A320 
   aircraft.
• 05-nov-08
   Jazeera Airways receives its eighth Airbus A320 
   aircraft.
• 19-nov-08
   Jazeera Airways crosses the three million 
   passengers mark, and launches 1 million seat 
   sale to celebrate the achievement.

2009 
• 14-Jan-09
   Jazeera Airways launches flights to Deir 
   Ezzor, Syria.
• 06-May-09
   Jazeera Airways announces net profit of
   KD4.45 million for 2008.
• 06-Jun-09
   Jazeera Airways receives its ninth Airbus A320 
   aircraft.
• 08-Jun-09
   Jazeera Airways implements state-of-the-art 
   reservation system (Navitaire New Skies 3.0).
• 20-Jun-09
   Jazeera Airways receives its 10th Airbus A320 
   aircraft.
• 06-sep-09 
   Jazeera Airways ranked the largest operator 
   at Kuwait Inernational Airport in terms of flown 
   passengers.
• 06-Oct-09
   Jazeera Airways launches Jazeera Business Class.

2010 
• 14-Jan-10
   Jazeera Airways receives its 11th Airbus A320 
   aircraft.
• 24-Jan-10
   Jazeera Airways completes $105 million ECA 
   financing with Natixis for three Airbus A320 
   aircraft.
• 02-feb-10
   Jazeera Airways becomes the sixth largest carrier 
   in Lebanon.
• 15-feb-10
   Jazeera Airways acquires 100% of Sahaab Aircraft 
   Leasing for KD25.6 million.
• 30-Mar-10
   Jazeera Airways announces KD8.2 million net loss 
   for FY2009.
• 02-May-10
   Jazeera Airways launches its business Turn-
   Around Plan (TAP) to bring the company back to 
   profitability.
• 10-Oct-10
   Sahaab Aircraft Leasing leases four Airbus A320s 
   to Virgin America.
• 25-Oct-10
   Jazeera Airways passes the one-million 
   passengers mark for 2010.
• 08-nov-10
   Jazeera Airways announces record net profit of
   KD4.4 million for Q3, 2010.
• 23-nov-10
   Jazeera Airways launches non-stop flights to 
   Sohag, Egypt.
• 11-Dec-10
   Jazeera Airways leads Kuwaiti airlines in market 
   share in October 2010.
• 12-Dec-10
   Jazeera Airways increases Sahaab Leasing capital 
   by KD9 million.
• 13-Dec-10
   Sahaab Aircraft Leasing places an Airbus A320 
   with SriLankan Airlines.

2011 
• 20-feb-11
   Jazeera Airways grabs largest market share on 
   operated routes in 2010.
• 22-feb-11
   Jazeera Airways announces record net profit of 
   KD2 million for Q4, 2010.
• 06-apr-11
   Jazeera Airways announces delivery dates for 
   four brand new Airbus A320s, to be delivered 
   by 2014.
• 02-May-11
   Jazeera Airways receives IOSA certification by 
   IATA for having world class operational standards.
• 03-May-11
   Jazeera Airways announces record net profit of 
   KD1.1 million for Q1, 2011.
• 18-May-11
   Jazeera Airways launches first flight to Cairo.
• 07-Jun-11
   Jazeera Airways joins IATA, becoming its 238th 
   airline-member.
• 20-Jun-11
   Jazeera Airways expands CFM56-5B powered 
   A320 fleet with $80 million engines order.
• 08-aug-11
   Jazeera Airways announces record net profit of 
   KD2.2 million for Q2, 2011.
• 31-Oct-11
   Jazeera Airways announces record net profit of 
   KD6.1 million for the first 9-months of 2011.
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The Management Team

chief Executive Officer

Stefan joined Jazeera Airways Group in June 2009 as CEO, 
accountable for the commercial, operational and financial 
performance in addition to being responsible for future 
growth strategies.

Prior to joining Jazeera Airways Group, Stefan had served as 
Chief Commercial Officer at Virgin Blue and was responsible 
for the transformation from a low cost carrier to a “new 
world” network airline including the start-up of long haul 
operations.

Stefan was also formerly the Chairman and CEO of Thomas 
Cook AG where he built the company from a German tour 
operator to the second biggest global leisure group. Prior 
to Thomas Cook, Stefan had Senior and Executive roles 
with Deutsche Lufthansa AG. In his career, he also served 
as a non-executive director of some major international 
corporations.

stEfan picHlER

Vice president - industry affairs

With over 25 years experience in the air transport industry, 
Bader joined Jazeera Airways in 2004 as part of the core 
start-up team that structured and established the airline in 
2005. Between 2005 and 2010, Bader was instrumental in 
obtaining traffic rights to over 28 destination in the Middle 
East, North Africa, and South East Asia.

Today, Bader is responsible for legal counsel and 
negotiations with relevant governmental departments 
to ensure that the company’s needs and requirements 
across the network are met in compliance with different 
regulatory authorities at all times.

Prior to joining Jazeera Airways, Bader was the Director of 
Air Transport at The Directorate General of Civil Aviation 
of Kuwait, where he led and participated in various 
governmental bilateral negotiations.

BaDER n al-MERsHED

Vice president - ground Operation & product

Ali joined Jazeera Airways Group in 2004 as part of the 
airline’s start-up team, bringing with him over 30 years 
experience in ground operations and passenger services. 
His responsibilities at Jazeera Airways cover network-
wide airport operations, product enhancements, ground 
handling, catering, and in-flight services.

Prior to joining Jazeera Airways Group, Ali was a member 
of the AirArabia start-up team, where he was also 
responsible for sales and marketing, and British Airways.

ali faiROOz

Vice president - Maintenance and 
Engineering 

With over 33 years experience in aircraft Maintenance, 
engineering, material and quality assurance, Abdulla 
joined Jazeera Airways Group in 2004 and led the process 
of aircraft customization and definition from the initial 
stage (start-up) to inception.

Today, Abdulla is responsible and accountable for the 
management of continuing airworthiness program of 
Jazeera Airways fleet as required by Kuwait DGCA. In 
addition, he is managing the service providers in Kuwait, 
outstations, and overhaul organizations as well as during 
the production phases of the aircraft up to and including 
acceptance and delivery from Airbus in Toulouse and 
Hamburg.

Prior to joining Jazeera Airways Group, Abdulla was 
Director of Maintenance and Engineering at Yemenia 
Airways.

aBDUllaH al-HUDaiD

chief financial Officer

Donald is a Chartered Accountant with over 25 years in 
commercial finance and has been with Jazeera Airways 
since June 2010. Today Donald is Group CFO and leads on 
finance and funding matters in addition to managing the 
day-to-day financial activities for the company.

His past experience includes senior financial management 
positions in telecommunications, physical security and IT 
spreading across Southern Africa, Asia,  the UK and the 
Middle East.

Before joining Jazeera Airways Group, Donald was the 
Finance Director of AirArabia since startup in 2003, and 
later AirArabia’s Director of Strategy and Planning. He was 
also the founding CEO responsible for setting up AirArabia’s 
Nepal hub.

DOnalD HUBBaRD

Vice president - sales

Rafik has over 31 years experience in sales and aviation. 
At Jazeera Airways, Rafik leads sales across all distribution 
channels and segments and is responsible for ancillary 
revenues, sales cost control, corporate sales network-
wide, and travel trade relations. Rafik had a leading role 
in the setup of the company’s franchise offices across the 
network and in introducing Jazeera Airways Holidays

Prior to joining Jazeera Airways, Rafilk spent years in a 
leading management role at Deutsche Lufthansa AG 
in both Kuwait and Egypt.

Vice president - network and Revenue 
Management

Martin joined the Jazeera Airways team in February 2010 
with over 15 years experience in pricing and planning in 
the airline industry. At Jazeera Airways, Martin is responsible 
for the areas of network planning, scheduling, pricing, 
and revenue management.  Martin had a lead role in the 
redesign of the airline’s network for Turn-Around Plan that 
brought the airline back to profitability.  

Martin’s 17-year career in the airline industry started with 
Swissair in 1994 and subsequently went on to hold senior 
management positions with Swiss International Airlines, 
Swiss Federal Railways, Luxair and Qatar Airways. His last 
post prior to joining Jazeera Airways in 2010, was Head of 
Network Planning at Qatar Airways.

MaRtin aEBERli RafiK BOgHDaDy

Vice president - Operations

With over 34 years experience in aviation, Falah is 
responsible for flight operations management and deck 
crew training as A/E, flight planning, performance, 
operational control, and crew scheduling in accordance with 
the requirements of Jazeera Airways AOC, international 
legal requirements and CAAs regulations.

At Jazeera Airways, Falah was instrumental in the 
establishment of the company’s pilot training department 
and securing manpower and other operational resources 
necessary to support the company’s operations and growth.

In addition to his on-ground responsibilities, Captain Falah 
is a senior training pilot who has earned an extensive list 
of flight operations and technical certifications within the 
aviation industry.

capt. falaH HaMOUD al-sHaMMaRi

JAZEERA AIRWAYS ANNUAL REPORT 2011
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Our Business in Bullets

simple business
We believe that simple and efficient business is good business, and we 
employ this in everything we do from operations to sales. We operate a 
single fleet of new Airbus A320 aircraft with high aircraft utilization. 

profit before growth
Route expansion seems to be integral to our industry, however 
route profit maximization is of greater importance to Jazeera 
Airways.  Our commitment to this principle has yielded great results 
over the years and has distinguished our financial performance in 
comparison to peers. We continue to eye expansion in a prudent and 
disciplined manner.

High Demand routes
Our route network is carefully planned, with an average flight time of 2.20 
hours, and optimized on an ongoing basis to ensure maximization of a 
relevant commercial offering and profit. 

Easy booking. Easy paying
Sales and distribution is one of our strongest success pillars. Customers 
can book and pay for seats through a variety of high-tech and low-tech 
channels.  Our website currently generates the majority of sales averaging a 
contribution between 50% to 55% in any given month.  Customers can also 
book through travel agents across the Middle East, through our call centre 
and their mobile devices through especially designed native applications 
and mobile web interfaces. 

We know who we are
Jazeera Airways knows its product, its USPs, its markets and its customers. 
This understanding is key to our resilience and success. We continue to 
invest into our brand equity and enhance it in Kuwait and across our 
markets. 

Human capital Development
The only asset that does not appear on our balance sheet. We will 
continually invest in our people with a strong belief in career planning and 
rewarding excellence.

launched in October 2005, Jazeera Airways is the largest 
carrier serving the Middle East and the neighboring region 
from Kuwait. The airline’s business model is based on a point-
to-point operation, with a unique positioning of delivering 
value in price, service, and amenities for short-haul travel -all 
while maintaining a lean cost structure.

JAZEERA AIRWAYS ANNUAL REPORT 2011
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT TO THE SHAREHOLDERS

Report on the Consolidated Financial 
Statements

We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements 
of Jazeera Airways K.S.C. (“the Ultimate Parent Company”) and 
its subsidiaries (“together called the Group”), which comprise the 
consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 December 2011, 
and the consolidated statements of income, comprehensive income, 
changes in shareholders’ equity and cash flows for the year then ended, 
and a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory 
information.

Management’s Responsibility for the 
Consolidated Financial Statements
The Ultimate Parent Company’s management is responsible for the 
preparation and fair presentation of these consolidated financial 
statements in accordance with International Financial Reporting 
Standards, and for such internal control as management determines is 
necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements 
that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.  

Auditors’ Responsibility
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial 
statements based on our audit. We conducted our audit in accordance 
with International Standards on Auditing. Those Standards require that 
we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to 
obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial 
statements are free from material misstatement.
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An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about 
the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated financial statements. 
The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgment, including 
the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated 
financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those 
risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the 
entity’s preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial 
statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in 
the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on 
the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit also includes 
evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the 
reasonableness of accounting estimates made by the management, as 
well as evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated financial 
statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and 
appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

Report on other Legal and Regulatory 
Requirements

Furthermore, in our opinion proper books of accounts have been kept by 
the Ultimate Parent Company and the consolidated financial statements, 
together with the contents of the report of the Ultimate Parent Company’s 
Board of Directors relating to these consolidated financial statements, 
are in accordance therewith. We further report that we obtained all the 
information and explanations that we required for the purpose of our 
audit; and that the consolidated financial statements incorporate all 
information that is required by Commercial Companies Law of 1960, as 
amended, and by the Ultimate Parent Company’s Articles of Association; 
that an inventory was duly carried out; and that, to the best of our 
knowledge and belief, no violations of the Commercial Companies Law 
of 1960, as amended, or of the Ultimate Parent Company’s Articles of 
Association have occurred during the year ended 31 December 2011 that 
might have had a material effect on the business of the Group or on its 
consolidated financial position.Opinion

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all 
material respects, the financial position of the Group as at 31 December 
2011, and their financial performance and cash flows for the year then 
ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards.

Bader A. Al-Wazzan 
Licence No. 62A
Deloitte & Touche
Al-Fahad Al-Wazzan & Co.

Kuwait
06 March 2012

Dr. Saud Al-Humaidi
License No. 51A
Dr. Saud Al-Humaidi & Partners
Member of Baker Tilly International

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT TO THE SHAREHOLDERS (Continued)

JAZEERA AIRWAYS ANNUAL REPORT 2011
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Kuwaiti Dinars

ASSETS
Note 2011 2010

Non-current Assets
Property and equipment 4 148,063,532 159,305,419
Advance for maintenance 6,341,901 -
Deposits 5 668,086 671,911
Goodwill 23 3,443,481 3,443,481

158,517,000 163,420,811
Current Assets
Inventories, expendable parts and supplies 184,656 200,699
Trade and other receivables 6 1,772,132 1,639,096
Cash and cash equivalents 7 15,602,306 7,928,207

17,559,094 9,768,002
Total assets 176,076,094 173,188,813
LIABILITIES AND EQUITY 
Equity
Attributable to Ultimate Parent Company’s shareholders
Share capital 8 22,000,000 22,000,000
Legal reserve 9 1,306,107 801,461
Equity transaction costs - (46,079)
Retained earnings/(accumulated deficit) 3,966,471 (6,037,884)
Foreign currency translation reserve (1,398,586) (1,281,795)

25,873,992 15,435,703
Non-controlling interest 287 287
Total equity 25,874,279 15,435,990
Non-current liabilities
Term loans 10 62,755,014 71,060,338
Post employment benefits 1,283,808 1,096,642
Aircraft lease maintenance reserve 11 7,695,720 5,161,708
Deposits 1,251,580 1,259,780
Due to a related party 12 7,762,926 9,839,325
Advance received from lessee 1,362,441 309,005
Deferred purchase consideration 23 27,628,553 25,969,901

109,740,042 114,696,699
Current liabilities
Term loans 10 8,054,062 7,746,836
Due to banks 13 12,489,752 12,584,195
Trade and other payables 14 13,647,583 14,014,257
Deferred revenue 6,270,376 8,710,836

40,461,773 43,056,124
Total liabilities and equity 176,076,094 173,188,813

Consolidated Statement of Financial 
Position as of 31 December 2011

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

Marwan Marzouk Boodai
Chairman

JAZEERA AIRWAYS ANNUAL REPORT 2011

Marwan M. Boodai
Chairman
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Kuwaiti Dinars

Note 2011 2010
Revenue 15 57,794,625 42,562,524

Operating costs 16 (39,030,562) (37,282,979)

Profit from operations 18,764,063 5,279,545

Other income 734,480 1,029,193

General and administrative expenses 17 (3,911,807) (4,304,570)

Restructuring costs 18 (156,066) (1,878,050)

Finance costs (5,114,642) (4,830,683)

Foreign currency gain 768,320 1,899,998

Profit/(loss) before contribution to taxes 11,084,348 (2,804,567)

Contribution to Zakat Tax (137,145) -

Kuwait Foundation for the Advancement of Sciences (45,418) -

National Labour Support Tax (346,705) -

Profit/(loss) for the year 10,555,080 (2,804,567)

Attributable to:

Shareholders of the Ultimate Parent Company 10,555,080 (2,804,567)

Earnings/(loss) per share (fils) – Basic and Diluted  19 47.98 (12.75)

Consolidated Statement of Income - 
Year ended 31 December 2011

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

JAZEERA AIRWAYS ANNUAL REPORT 2011
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Kuwaiti Dinars

2011 2010
Profit/(loss) for the year 10,555,080 (2,804,567)

Other comprehensive income :

Exchange differences on translating foreign operations (116,791) (1,281,795)

Total comprehensive income/(expense) for the year 10,438,289 (4,086,362)

Attributable to:

Shareholders of the Ultimate Parent Company 10,438,289 (4,086,362)

Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive 
Income - Year ended 31 December 2011

JAZEERA AIRWAYS ANNUAL REPORT 2011
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Equity attributable to the Ultimate Parent Company’s Shareholders

Non 
controlling 

interest
Total

equity
Share
capital Legal reserve

Equity 
transaction 

costs

Retained
earnings/ 

(accumulated 
deficit) 

Foreign
currency 

translation 
reserve

At 1 January 2011 22,000,000 801,461 (46,079) (6,037,884) (1,281,795) 287 15,435,990

Total comprehensive income for the year - - - 10,555,080 (116,791) - 10,438,289

Transfers - 504,646 46,079 (550,725) - - -

At 31 December 2011 22,000,000 1,306,107 - 3,966,471 (1,398,586) 287 25,874,279

At 1 January 2010 21,998,746 801,461 (46,079) (3,233,317) - 348 19,521,159

Disposal during the year (net) - - - - - (61) (61)

Sale of fractional shares 1,254 - - - - - 1,254

Total comprehensive income for the year - - - (2,804,567) (1,281,795) - (4,086,362)

At 31 December 2010 22,000,000 801,461 (46,079) (6,037,884) (1,281,795) 287 15,435,990

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements

Kuwaiti Dinars

Consolidated Statement of Changes in Shareholders’ 
Equity – Year ended 31 December 2011

JAZEERA AIRWAYS ANNUAL REPORT 2011
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Note 2011 2010
Cash flows from operating activities
Profit/(loss) for the year 10,555,080 (2,804,567)
Adjustments for:
Depreciation 5,310,769 5,060,498
Finance costs 5,114,642 4,830,683
Foreign exchange gain (768,320) (1,899,998)
Non cash items and provisions (net) 2,721,178 2,063,461
Operating profit before working capital changes 22,933,349 7,250,077
Decrease/(increase) in inventories 16,043 (39,098)
Decrease/(increase) in deposits 3,825 (671,911)
(Increase)/decrease in trade and other receivables (133,036) 292,992
Decrease in trade and other payables (366,674) (158,403)
Advance received from lessee 1,053,436 309,005
Decrease in deferred revenue (2,440,460) (70,505)
Net cash from operating activities 21,066,483 6,912,157
Cash flows from investing activities
Purchase of property and equipment (net) (410,783) (12,457,543)
Cash from subsidiary on acquisition 23 - 701,424
Increase in deposits (net) (1,302,639) (955,841)
Proceeds from issue of fractional shares - 1,254
Change in non-controlling interest - (61)
Net cash used in investing activities (1,713,422) (12,710,767)
Cash flows from financing activities
(Repayment of)/ proceeds from term loans (net) (7,229,778) 2,714,948
(Decrease)/ increase in security deposits from lessees (8,200) 1,259,780
(Repayment of)/ proceeds from overdraft (94,443) 247,643
(Repayment of)/ proceeds from loan from related party (2,076,399) 9,839,325
Finance costs paid (3,455,990) (3,320,569)
Net cash (used in)/ from financing activities (12,864,810) 10,741,127
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 6,488,251 4,942,517
Cash and cash equivalents at
beginning of year 5,643,197 1,982,475
effects of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents (116,791) (1,281,795)
end of year 7 12,014,657 5,643,197
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements

Kuwaiti Dinars

Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows –
Year ended 31 December 2011

JAZEERA AIRWAYS ANNUAL REPORT 2011
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1. Constitution and activities
Jazeera Airways K.S.C. (the “Ultimate Parent Company”) was incorporated by Amiri Decree on 3 March 2004 as a Kuwaiti Public Shareholding Company under the laws of Kuwait and is engaged in the business of air transportation and commercial passenger 
services under a license from the Directorate General of Civil Aviation.

The Ultimate Parent Company has the following subsidiaries:

Name of the Company Percentage of Holding Description

Al Sahaab Aircraft Leasing Company W.L.L. 100% Intermediate Parent Company

Sahaab Aviation LLC (Trustor) 100% Subsidiary of Intermediate Parent Company

The Ultimate Parent Company, the Intermediate Parent Company and the subsidiaries are together referred to in these consolidated financial statements as the Group.
The address of the registered office of the Ultimate Parent Company is Kuwait international Airport, State of Kuwait. 
These consolidated financial statements were authorised for issue by the Board of Directors of the Ultimate Parent Company on 06 March 2012 and are subject to the approval of the shareholders at their forthcoming Annual General Meeting.

2. Basis of preparation and significant accounting policies

2.1 Basis of preparation
These consolidated financial statements have been prepared in conformity with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB) and Interpretations issued by the International Financial 
Reporting Interpretations Committee (IFRIC). These consolidated financial statements are prepared under the historical cost basis of measurement. These consolidated financial statements have been presented in Kuwaiti Dinar. 

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements - 31 December 2011
JAZEERA AIRWAYS ANNUAL REPORT 2011
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The preparation of financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires 
management to make estimates and assumptions that may affect the 
reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets 
and contingent liabilities at the date of the consolidated financial statements 
and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting 
period.  It also requires management to exercise its judgment in the process 
of applying the accounting policies. The areas involving a high degree of 
judgment or complexity or areas where assumptions and estimates are 
significant to the financial statements are disclosed in Note 28.

2.2 Accounting policies
The accounting policies used in the preparation of these consolidated 
financial statements are consistent with those used in the previous year 
except for the adoption of the following new/amended Standards and 
Interpretations:

IAS 24: Related party disclosures (Revised)
The definition of a related party was revised to simplify the identification 
of such relationships and lays down additional requirements for 
disclosure of outstanding commitments to related parties. The adoption 
of the amendment does not have any impact on the financial position, 
performance, or disclosures in the consolidated financial statements of the 
Group.

IAS 32 Financial Instruments (Amended)
The definition of a financial liability was amended to classify rights issues 
for a fixed amount of foreign currency (and certain options or warrants) 
as equity instruments in cases where such rights are given pro rata to 
all of the existing owners of the same class of an entity’s non-derivative 
equity instruments, or to acquire a fixed number of the entity’s own equity 
instruments for a fixed amount in any currency. The amendment has had 
no effect on the financial position or performance of the Group because the 
Group does not have these type of instruments.

Improvements to IFRSs
In May 2010, IASB issued amendments to various standards and 
interpretations as part of its annual improvements project. There are 
separate transitional provisions for each standard. The adoption of the 
following amendment resulted in changes to accounting policies, but no 
impact on the financial position or performance of the Group.
IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements
The amendment clarifies that an entity may present an analysis of each 
component of other comprehensive income either in the statement of 
changes in equity or in the notes to the financial statements. The Group 
provides this analysis in the statement of changes in equity.

Standards and Interpretations issued but not yet effective
The following new/revised IASB Standards and IFRIC Interpretations have 
been issued but are not yet effective and have not been early adopted by 

the Group:

•	 IFRS 7,Disclosures Transfers of Financial Assets - 
Amendments 

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after  1 July 
2011

•	 IFRS 9 Financial Instruments
Effective for annual periods beginning on or after   1 January 
2015

•	 IFRS 10 Consolidated Financial Statements
Effective for annual periods beginning on or after  1 January 
2013

•	 IFRS 11 Joint Arrangements
Effective for annual periods beginning on or after  1 January 
2013

•	 IFRS 12 Disclosure of Interests in Other  Entities
Effective for annual periods beginning on or after  1 January 
2013

•	 IFRS 13 Fair Value Measurement
Effective for annual periods beginning on or after  1 January 
2013

•	 IAS 1, Presentation of Items
 of Other  Comprehensive Income - Amendments 

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after  1 July 
2012

•	 IAS 27 (as revised in 2011) Separate Financial Statements
Effective for annual periods beginning on or after  1 January 
2013

IFRS 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures
The amendment requires additional disclosure about financial assets that 
have been transferred but not derecognised to enable the user of the entity’s 
financial statements to understand the relationship with those assets that 
have not been derecognised and their associated liabilities. In addition, 
the amendment requires disclosures about continuing involvement in 
derecognised assets to enable the user to evaluate the nature of, and risks 
associated with, the entity’s continuing involvement in those derecognised 
assets. The amendment affects disclosure only and has no impact on the 
Group’s financial position or performance.

IFRS 9 Financial Instruments: Classification and Measurement
IFRS 9 as issued reflects the first phase of the IASBs work on the replacement 
of IAS 39 and applies to classification and measurement of financial assets 
and financial liabilities as defined in IAS 39. In subsequent phases, the 
IASB will address hedge accounting and impairment of financial assets. The 
adoption of the first phase of IFRS 9 will have an effect on the classification 
and measurement of the Group’s financial assets, but will potentially have 
no impact on classification and measurements of financial liabilities. The 
Group will quantify the effect in conjunction with the other phases, when 
issued, to present a comprehensive picture.

IFRS 10: Consolidated Financial Statements
IFRS 10 replaces the consolidation guidance in IAS 27: Consolidated and 

Separate Financial Statements and SIC-12 Consolidation - Special Purpose Entities by 
introducing a single consolidation model for all entities based on control, irrespective 
of the nature of the investee.

IFRS 11: Joint Arrangements
IFRS 11 introduces new accounting requirements for joint arrangements, replacing 
IAS 31: Interests in Joint Ventures. The option to apply the proportional consolidation 
method when accounting for jointly controlled entities is removed. Additionally, 
IFRS 11 eliminates jointly controlled assets to now only differentiate between joint 
operations and joint ventures. 

IFRS 12: Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities
IFRS 12 requires enhanced disclosures about both consolidated entities and 
unconsolidated entities in which an entity has involvement. The objective of IFRS 12 
is to require information so that financial statement users may evaluate the basis of 
control, any restrictions on consolidated assets and liabilities, risk exposures arising 
from involvements with unconsolidated structured entities and non-controlling interest 
holders’ involvement in the activities of consolidated entities.

IFRS 13: Fair Value Measurement
IFRS 13 Fair Value Measurement replaces the guidance on fair value measurement in 
existing IFRS accounting literature with a single standard. IFRS 13 defines fair value, 
provides guidance on how to determine fair value and requires disclosures about fair 
value measurements. However, IFRS 13 does not change the requirements regarding 
which items should be measured or disclosed at fair value.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements - 31 December 2011
JAZEERA AIRWAYS ANNUAL REPORT 2011
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IAS 1 Financial Statement Presentation
The amendments to IAS 1 change the grouping of items presented in Other 
Comprehensive Income. Items that could be reclassified (or ‘recycled’) to 
profit or loss at a future point in time (for example, upon derecognition or 
settlement) would be presented separately from items that will never be 
reclassified. The amendment affects presentation only and has no impact 
on the Group’s financial position or performance.

IAS 27: Separate Financial Statements
As a consequence of the new IFRS 10 and IFRS 12, what remains of IAS 
27 is limited to accounting for subsidiaries, jointly controlled entities, and 
associates in separate financial statements. The Group does not present 
separate financial statements. The amendment becomes effective for 
annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2013.

Adoption of other IASB Standards will not have material effect on the 
consolidated financial statements or performance of the Group. Additional 
disclosures will be made in the consolidated financial statements when 
these Standards become effective.

2.3 Business Combinations 
A business combination is the bringing together of separate entities or 
businesses into one reporting entity as a result of one entity, the acquirer, 
obtaining control of one or more other businesses. The acquisition method 
of accounting is used to account for business combinations. The cost 
of acquisition is measured as the fair value of the assets given, equity 
instruments issued and liabilities incurred or assumed at the date of the 
exchange. The acquisition related costs are expensed when incurred. 
Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities and contingent liabilities assumed 
in a business combination (net assets acquired in a business combination) 
are measured initially at their fair values at the acquisition date. Non-
controlling interest in the subsidiary acquired is recognized either at the 
fair value or at the non-controlling interest’s proportionate share of the 
acquiree’s net assets. 

When a business combination is achieved in stages, the previously held 
equity interest in the acquiree is re-measured at its acquisition-date fair 
value and the resulting gain or loss is recognized in the consolidated 
statement of income. The fair value of the equity of the acquiree at the 
acquisition date is determined using valuation techniques and considering 
the outcome of recent transactions for similar assets in the same industry in 
the same geographical region.
The Group separately recognizes contingent liabilities assumed in a business 
combination if it is a present obligation that arises from past events and its 
fair value can be measured reliably. 

The Group uses provisional values for the initial accounting of a business 
combination and recognizes any adjustment to these provisional values within 
the measurement period which is twelve months from the acquisition date.

2.4 Consolidation
Subsidiaries are those enterprises, including special purpose entities, 
controlled by the Group. The consolidated financial statements comprise 
the financial statements of the Ultimate Parent Company and subsidiaries 
including special purpose entities. The financial statements of the 
subsidiaries are prepared for the same reporting period as the Ultimate 
Parent Company, using consistent accounting policies. All material inter-
group balances and transactions, including inter-group profits and unrealised 
profits and losses are eliminated on consolidation.
Subsidiaries are consolidated from the date on which control is transferred 
to the Group and cease to be consolidated from the date that control 
ceases. Control is achieved where the Group has the power to govern the 
financial and operating policies of an entity so as to obtain benefits from its 
activities. The results of the subsidiaries acquired or disposed off during the 
period are included in the consolidated income statement from the date of 
acquisition and up to the date of disposal, as appropriate.

Non-controlling interests represents the equity in the subsidiaries not 
attributable directly, or indirectly, to the equity holders of the Ultimate 
Parent Company. Equity and net income attributable to non-controlling 
interests are shown separately in the consolidated statement of financial 
position, the consolidated income statement, the consolidated statement 
of comprehensive income and the consolidated statement of changes in 
Shareholders’ equity.

Losses within a subsidiary are attributed to the non controlling interest even 
if that results in a deficit balance.
A change in the ownership interest of a subsidiary, without a loss of control, 
is accounted for as an equity transaction. If the Group loses control over a 
subsidiary, it:
•	Derecognises the assets (including goodwill) and liabilities of the  
   subsidiary
•	Derecognises the carrying amount of any non controlling interest
•	Derecognises the cumulative translation differences, recorded in equity
•	Recognises the fair value of the consideration received
•	Recognises the fair value of any investment retained
•	Recognises any surplus or deficit in profit or loss
•	Reclassifies the Ultimate Parent Company’s share of components 
   previously recognised in other comprehensive income to profit or loss or 
   retained earnings, as appropriate.

2.5 Financial instruments
classification
In the normal course of business the Group uses financial instruments, 
principally deposits, trade and other receivables, cash and cash equivalents, 
term loans, aircraft lease maintenance reserve, due to a related party, 
deferred purchase consideration,  due to banks, trade and other payables 
and derivatives.  
The Group classifies financial assets as “loans and receivables” and all 
financial liabilities are classified as “other than at fair value through profit 
or loss”.

Recognition/derecognition
A financial asset or a financial liability is recognised when the Group becomes a party 
to the contractual provisions of the instrument. A financial asset is derecognised 
when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the financial asset expire; or 
when the Group has transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership; 
or when it has neither transferred nor retained substantially all risks and rewards of 
ownership and it no longer has control over the asset or portion of the asset. If the 
Group has retained control, it shall continue to recognise the financial asset to the 
extent of its continuing involvement in the financial asset.

A financial liability is derecognized when the obligation under the liability is 
discharged, cancelled or expired. Where an existing financial liability is replaced 
by another from the same lender on substantially different terms, or the terms of 
an existing liability are substantially modified, such an exchange or modification is 
treated as a derecognition of the original liability and recognition of a new liability.

All regular way purchase and sale of financial assets are recognized using trade 
date accounting. Regular way purchases or sales are purchases or sales of financial 
assets that require delivery of assets within the time frame generally established by 
regulations or conventions in the market place.

Measurement
financial instruments
All financial assets or financial liabilities are initially measured at fair value. 
Transaction costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition or issue are included 
in the fair value of the financial instrument. 

loans and receivables
These are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that 
are not quoted in an active market. These are subsequently measured and carried at 
amortised cost using the effective interest rate.

financial liabilities
Financial liabilities are subsequently measured and carried at amortized cost using 
the effective interest rate. 

financial guarantees
Financial guarantees are subsequently measured at the higher of the amount initially 
recognized less any cumulative amortization and the best estimate of the amount 
required to settle any financial obligation arising as a result of the guarantee.

fair values 
The fair value of financial instruments carried at amortised cost is estimated by 
discounting the future contractual cash flows at the current market interest rates for 
similar financial instruments.

amortised cost
Amortised cost is computed by taking into account any discount or premium on 
acquisition of the financial instrument and fees and costs that are an integral part of 
the effective interest rate.
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Derivative financial instruments and hedging activities
Derivatives are initially recognized at fair value on the date a derivative 
contract is entered into and are subsequently remeasured at their fair 
value. Derivatives with positive fair values (unrealised gains) are included 
in other receivables and derivatives with negative fair values (unrealised 
losses) are included in other payables in the consolidated statement of 
financial position.  For hedges, which do not qualify for hedge accounting 
and for “held for trading” derivatives, any gains or losses arising from 
changes in the fair value of the derivative are taken directly to the 
consolidated statement of income. For hedge accounting, the Group 
designates derivatives as either hedges of the fair value of recognized 
assets or liabilities or a firm commitment (fair value hedge); or hedges 
of a particular risk associated with a recognized asset or liability or a 
highly probable forecast transaction (cash flow hedge) or hedges of a net 
investment in a foreign operation (net investment hedge).

fair value hedge
In relation to fair value hedges, which meet the conditions for hedge 
accounting, any gain or loss from re-measuring the hedging instrument 
to fair value is recognized in ‘Other receivables’ or ‘Other payables’ and in 
the consolidated statement of income. Any gain or loss on the hedged item 
attributable to the hedged risk is adjusted against the carrying amount of 
the hedged item and recognized in the consolidated statement of income.
If the hedging instrument expires or is sold, terminated or exercised, 
or where the hedge no longer meets the criteria for hedge accounting, 
the hedge relationship is terminated. For hedged items recorded at 
amortised cost, using the effective interest rate, the difference between 
the carrying value of the hedged item on termination and the face value 
is amortised over the remaining term of the original hedge. If the hedged 
item is derecognized, the unamortised fair value adjustment is recognized 
immediately in the consolidated statement of income.

cash flow hedge
For designated and qualifying cash flow hedges, the effective portion of 
the gain or loss on the hedging instrument that is determined to be an 
effective hedge is recognized directly in the consolidated statement of 
comprehensive income and the ineffective portion is recognized in the 
consolidated statement of income.

When the hedged cash flow affects the consolidated statement of income, 
the gain or loss on the hedging instrument is ‘recycled’ in the corresponding 
income or expense line of the consolidated statement of income. When a 
hedging instrument expires, or is sold, terminated, exercised, or when a 
hedge no longer meets the criteria for hedge accounting, any cumulative 
gain or loss existing in shareholders’ equity at that time remains in 
shareholders’ equity and is recognized when the hedged forecast transaction 
is ultimately recognized in the consolidated statement of income. When a 
forecast transaction is no longer expected to occur, the cumulative gain or 
loss that was reported in shareholders’ equity is immediately transferred to 

the consolidated statement of income.

impairment 
A financial asset is impaired if its carrying amount is greater than its 
estimated recoverable amount. An assessment is made at each date of 
statement of financial position to determine whether there is objective 
evidence that a specific financial asset or a group of similar assets may 
be impaired. If such evidence exists, the asset is written down to its 
recoverable amount. The recoverable amount of an interest bearing 
instrument is the present value of estimated future cash flows, including 
amounts recoverable from guarantees and collateral, discounted at the 
financial asset’s original effective interest rate. If the financial asset has a 
variable interest rate, the discount rate for measuring any impairment loss 
is the current effective interest rate determined under the contract.

Financial assets are written off when there is no realistic prospect of 
recovery. 

2.6 Property and equipment 
Property and equipment are stated at historical cost less accumulated 
depreciation and accumulated provisions for impairment, if any. The cost of 
property and equipment consists of their purchase price and other directly 
attributable costs incurred up to bringing them to operating condition and 
ready for their intended use. The cost of aircraft and engines also includes 
borrowing costs incurred, until substantially all the activities necessary to 
prepare the asset for its intended use are complete.

The cost of property and equipment less estimated residual values is 
depreciated on straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives as 
follows:

Capital work-in-progress is stated at cost. When the asset is ready for 
its intended use, it is transferred from capital work-in-progress to the 
appropriate category under property and equipment and is depreciated 
from that date.

Rotable spare parts are classified as property and equipment if they are expected to 
be used over more than one period and are depreciated over their useful lives.
Repairs and maintenance costs are charged to the consolidated statement of income 
during the period in which they are incurred. Major modifications and improvements 
to property and equipment are capitalised and depreciated over the remaining useful 
life of the related asset.

The carrying amounts of property and equipment are reviewed at each date of 
consolidated statement of financial position to determine whether there is any 
indication of impairment in the carrying value. If any such indication exists, an 
impairment loss is recognised in consolidated statement of income, being the 
difference between the carrying value and the asset’s recoverable amount. For the 
purpose of assessing impairment, assets are grouped at the lowest levels for which 
there are separately identifiable cash flows (cash generating units).

2.7 Goodwill
Goodwill arising in a business combination is computed as the excess of the aggregate 
of: the consideration transferred; the non-controlling interest’s proportionate share of 
the acquiree’s net identifiable assets, if any; and in a business combination achieved in 
stages the acquisition-date fair value of the acquirer’s previously held equity interest 
in the acquiree, over the net of the acquisition-date fair values of the identifiable 
assets acquired and liabilities assumed. Any deficit is a gain from a bargain purchase 
and is recognized directly in the consolidated statement of income.

Goodwill on acquisition of subsidiaries is included in intangible assets. Goodwill is 
allocated to each of the cash generating units for the purpose of impairment testing. 
Gains and losses on disposal of an entity or a part of the entity include the carrying 
amount of goodwill relating to the entity or the portion sold.

Goodwill and intangible assets with indefinite useful lives are tested at least annually for 
impairment and carried at cost less accumulated impairment losses. 

Assets are grouped at the lowest levels for which there are separately identifiable 
cash flows, known as cash generating units for the purpose of assessing impairment 
of goodwill and intangible assets. If the recoverable amount of the cash generating 
unit is less than the carrying amount of the unit, the impairment loss is allocated 
first to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill allocated to the unit and then 
to the other assets of the unit pro rata, on the basis of the carrying amount of each 
asset in the unit. That relating to goodwill cannot be reversed in a subsequent period. 
Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs to sell and value in use. In 
assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present 
value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the 
time value of money and risk specific to the asset for which the estimates of future 
cash flows have not been adjusted. The Group prepares formal five year plans for its 
businesses. These plans are used for the value in use calculation. Long range growth 
rates are used for cash flows into perpetuity beyond the five year period. Fair value 
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less costs to sell is determined using valuation techniques and considering 
the outcome of recent transactions for similar assets in the same industry in 
the same geographical region.

2.8 Inventories, expendable parts and 
supplies 
Inventories, expendable parts and supplies are valued at the lower of 
weighted average cost and net realizable value after provision for slow 
moving and obsolete items

2.9 Cash and cash equivalents 
Cash and cash equivalents comprise of cash in hand, current account with 
banks and time deposits with banks with maturities not exceeding three 
months from acquisition date.

2.10 Accounting for  leases
Where the group is the lessee
Operating lease
Leases of property and equipment under which all risks and rewards of 
ownership are effectively retained by the lessor are classified as operating 
leases. Payments made under operating leases are charged to consolidated 
statement of income on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease.

finance lease
Leases of property and equipment where the Group assumes substantially 
all the benefits and risks of ownership are classified as finance leases. 
Finance leases are recognised as assets in the statement of financial 
position at the estimated present value of the related lease payments. Each 
lease payment is allocated between the liability and finance charge so as 
to produce a constant periodic rate of interest on the liability outstanding.

Where the group is the lessor
finance lease
Leases where the risks and benefits of ownership of the asset are 
transferred to the lessee are classified as finance leases. Amounts due 
from finance lease are recorded as receivables. Finance lease receivable 
is initially recognised at an amount equal to present value of minimum 
lease payments receivable plus the present value of any unguaranteed 
residual value expected to accrue at the end of the lease term. Finance 
lease payments are allocated between finance lease income and reduction 
of finance lease receivable over the term of the lease in order to reflect a 
constant periodic return on the net investment outstanding in respect of 
the lease.

Operating lease
Leases where the lessor retains substantially all the risks and benefits 
of ownership of the asset are classified as operating lease. Property 
and equipment which is subject to operating lease is presented in the 
consolidated statement of financial position according to the nature of the 
asset. Lease income from operating leases is recognised in the consolidated 
statement of income on a straight line basis over the lease term. The 
depreciation policy for depreciable leased assets is consistent with the 
lessor’s normal depreciation policy for similar assets.

2.11 Manufacturers’ credits
Credits received from manufacturers in connection with acquisition of 
aircraft and engines are reduced from the cost of the related aircraft and 
engines or are taken to consolidated statement of income, depending on 
the terms of the credit.

2.12 Post employment benefits
The Parent Company is liable under Kuwait Labour Law to make payments 
under defined benefit plans payable to employees at cessation of 
employment.
This liability, which is unfunded, represents the amount payable to 
employees as a result of involuntary termination on the date of statement of 
financial position and approximates the present value of the final obligation.

2.13 Revenue recognition
Revenue from flight seats sold, but not flown, is included in deferred 
revenue and is recognised in consolidated statement of income when the 
service is provided. 

Miscellaneous fees and ancillary revenue are recognised in the period in 
which the service is provided. 

Operating lease income is recognised on a straight-line basis over the 
period of the lease. 

Interest on time deposits with banks is recognised on a time proportion 
basis using the effective interest rate.

2.14 Borrowing costs
Borrowing costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition, construction 
or production of a qualifying asset is capitalised as part of the cost of 
that asset. Capitalisation of borrowing costs is suspended during extended 
periods in which active development is interrupted. Capitalisation of 
borrowing costs is ceased when substantially all the activities necessary to 

prepare the qualifying asset for its intended use are completed. Other finance costs 
are recognized as expenditure in the consolidated statement of income in the period 
in which they are incurred. 

2.15 Foreign currency translation
The functional currency of an entity is the currency of the primary economic 
environment in which it operates and in the case of the Ultimate Parent Company 
it is the Kuwaiti Dinar and in the case of subsidiaries it is their respective national 
currencies or the applicable foreign currency. 
Foreign currency transactions are recorded at the rates of exchange prevailing on 
the date of the transaction. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign 
currencies at the date of consolidated statement of financial position are translated to 
Kuwaiti Dinars at the rates of exchange prevailing on that date. Resultant gains and 
losses are taken to the consolidated statement of income. 

The income and cash flow statements of foreign operations are translated into the 
Ultimate Parent Company’s reporting currency at average exchange rates for the year 
and their statement of financial position are translated at exchange rates prevailing 
on the date of the consolidated statement of financial position.
Exchange differences arising from the translation of the net investment in foreign 
operations (including goodwill, long term receivables or loans and fair value 
adjustments arising on business combinations) are taken to the consolidated 
statement of comprehensive income. When a foreign operation is sold, any resultant 
exchange differences are recognized in the consolidated statement of income as part 
of the gain or loss on sale. 

2.16 Provisions for liabilities
Provisions for liabilities are recognised when, as a result of past events, it is probable 
that an outflow of economic resources will be required to settle a present obligation 
(legal or constructive) and the amount can be reliably estimated. 
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2.17 Income taxes
Income tax payable on profits is recognized as an expense in the period in 
which the profits arise, based on the applicable tax laws in each jurisdiction.

Deferred income tax is provided using the liability method on all temporary 
differences, at the date of the consolidated statement of financial position, 
between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts 
for financial reporting purposes. Deferred tax provisions depend on whether 
the timing of the reversal of the temporary difference can be controlled 
and whether it is probable that the temporary difference will reverse in the 
foreseeable future. 

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are 
expected to apply to the period when the asset is realized or the liability 
is settled, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or 
substantively enacted at the date of the consolidated statement of financial 
position.

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all temporary differences, including 
carry-forward of unused tax losses, to the extent that it is probable that 
taxable profit will be available against which the temporary difference can 
be utilised. The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at each 
date of consolidated statement of financial position and reduced to the 
extent that it is not probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available 
to allow all or part of the deferred tax assets to be utilised.

2.18 Contingencies
Contingent assets are not recognised as an asset till realisation becomes 
virtually certain. Contingent liabilities are not recognized as liabilities unless, 
as a result of past events, it is probable that an outflow of economic resources 
will be required to settle a present obligation (legal or constructive) and the 
amount can be reliably estimated.

3. Special purpose entity
The Intermediate Parent Company has two subsidiaries, Jazeera Leasing 
Company (JLC) and Sahaab Aircraft Leasing Company -1 (SALC -1), Cayman 
Island companies, incorporated with an authorised capital of USD 1,000 
and USD 50,000 respectively. The issued and fully paid up capital as of                
31 December 2011 are USD 1,000 and USD 1 respectively, equivalent to 
KD287 and KD0.276. JLC and SALC-1 are Special Purpose Entities (“SPE”) 
fully owned by third parties and are set up for the sole purpose of 
arranging finance for acquiring aircraft and engines and for leasing them 
to the Intermediate Parent Company under finance leases. JLC and SALC-1 
have been consolidated in these financial statements in accordance with 
Interpretation - SIC-12 ‘Consolidation - Special Purpose Entities’ as the 
Intermediate Parent Company obtains all of the benefits of its activities.

Sahaab Aviation LLC (“Trustor”) has created “Sahaab Trust” in association 
with Wells Fargo Bank Northwest National Association (“Owner Trustee”), 
a national banking association organised and existing under the laws of 
the United States of America. Sahaab Trust is a Special Purpose Entity 
(“SPE”) set up for the sole purpose of ensuring regulatory requirement of 
ownership of aircraft by a citizen of the United States of America. Sahaab 
Trust has been consolidated in these financial statements in accordance 
with Interpretation - SIC-12 ‘Consolidation - Special Purpose Entities’ as 
Sahaab Aviation LLC obtains all of the benefits of its activities.
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Kuwaiti Dinars

Aircraft and 
engines

Leasehold 
improvements

Furniture & 
equipment Vehicles

Capital work-
in-progress Total

Cost 
As at 31 December 2009 22,904,666 557,634 1,024,526 10,624 5,087,783 29,585,233
On acquisition of subsidiary 90,390,763 - 425 - 37,706,128 128,097,316
Additions 8,072,203 131 100,234 - 5,550,332 13,722,900
Transfers 3,978,910 65,970 140,600 - (4,185,480) -
Disposals - - (1,302) - - (1,302)
Exchange adjustment (1,397,187) - - - 122,396 (1,274,791)
As at 31 December 2010 123,949,355 623,735 1,264,483 10,624 44,281,159 170,129,356
Additions 170,812 - 52,508 1,069 503,961 728,350
Transfers 3,829,299 2,000 269,803 - (4,101,102) -
Transfer to advances - - - - (6,341,901) (6,341,901)
Exchange adjustment (298,029) - - - (24,600) (322,629)
As at 31 December 2011 127,651,437 625,735 1,586,794 11,693 34,317,517 164,193,176
Depreciation
As at 31 December 2009 1,837,563 258,566 587,313 6,684 - 2,690,126
On acquisition of subsidiary 3,083,990 - 59 - - 3,084,049
Charge for the year 4,741,692 98,704 218,125 1,977 - 5,060,498
Disposals - - (1,037) - - (1,037)
Exchange adjustment (9,699) - - - - (9,699)
As at 31 December 2010 9,653,546 357,270 804,460 8,661 - 10,823,937
Charge for the year 4,943,220 100,892 265,240 1,417 - 5,310,769
Exchange adjustment (5,062) - - - - (5,062)
As at 31 December 2011 14,591,704 458,162 1,069,700 10,078 - 16,129,644
Net book value
As at 31 December 2011 113,059,733 167,573 517,094 1,615 34,317,517 148,063,532
As at 31 December 2010 114,295,809 266,465 460,023 1,963 44,281,159 159,305,419

4. Property and equipment
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Depreciation has been allocated in the consolidated statement of income as follows:

 2011 2010
Operating costs 4,944,637 4,743,669
General and administrative expenses 366,132 316,829

5,310,769 5,060,498

This represents deposit, denominated in US Dollars, with a lender of term loan. The effective interest rate as at 31 December 2011 ranged from 0.104% to 0.105% (31 December 2010: 0.104% to 0.105%).

2011 2010
Trade receivables 501,942 557,610
Provision for impairment (110,660) (110,660)
Net trade receivables 391,282 446,950
Prepayments 428,059 536,714
Deposits 263,129 262,104
Other receivables 604,076 274,843
Staff receivables 85,586 118,485

1,772,132 1,639,096

The carrying value of trade and other receivables approximates its fair value. 

Trade receivables outstanding for less than three months are not considered as past due. As of 31 December 2011, trade receivables amounting to KD391,282 (31 December 2010: KD446,950) are neither past due nor impaired. These relate to a number 
of independent customers for whom there is no recent history of default. Furthermore, these trade receivables are substantially secured by bank guarantees. 

5. Deposits

Kuwaiti Dinars

Kuwaiti Dinars

6. Trade and other receivables
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Kuwaiti Dinars

As of 31 December 2011, trade receivables of KD110,660 (31 December 2010: KD110,660) were past due and impaired and fully provided for. The other classes with in trade and other receivables primarily consist of staff receivables which are neither 
past due nor impaired.

The carrying amounts of the Group’s trade receivables are denominated in the following currencies:

2011 2010
Kuwaiti Dinars 405,692 357,596

Bahraini Dinars 7,203 2,216

Indian Rupees - 6,087

Egyptian Pounds 41,240 55,185

US Dollars 28,077 95,519

Others 19,730 41,007

501,942 557,610

2011 2010
Cash on hand 16,180 12,523

Current account with banks 9,210,129 5,630,674

Time deposits with banks 2,788,348 -

 Cash & cash equivalents in the statement of cash flows 12,014,657 5,643,197

Time deposits with banks whose original maturity period exceeds three months 3,587,649 2,285,010

15,602,306 7,928,207

7. Cash and cash equivalents Kuwaiti Dinars

The effective interest rate on time deposits as of 31 December 2011 was 0.75% (31 December 2010: 1.5% to 2%).
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8. Share capital
The authorised, issued and fully paid up capital of the Ultimate Parent 
Company as of 31 December 2011 is KD22,000,000, paid in cash (31 
December 2010: KD22,000,000) comprising of 220,000,000  shares of 100  
fils each (31 December 2010: 220,000,000 shares of 100 fils each).

The extra-ordinary general meeting of share holders held on 13 May 
2010 resolved to further increase the authorised and issued share capital 
of the Ultimate Parent Company by KD20,000,000 through rights issue of 
200,000,000 ordinary shares at 150 fils per share including a premium of 50 
fils per share. Subsequently, the ordinary general meeting of shareholders 
held on 27 September 2010 resolved to revise the rights issue price from 
150 fils per share to 100 fils per share. The capital increase is subject to an 
Amiri Decree approval, which is pending as of the date of the consolidated 
statement of financial position. 

proposed dividend
The Ultimate Parent Company’s Board of Directors has proposed bonus share 
issue of one share for every 10 shares held amounting to KD2,200,000 (31 
December 2010: Nil) for the year ended 31 December 2011, subject to 
approval of the shareholders at the forthcoming Annual General Assembly.

9. Reserves
legal reserve
In accordance with the Law of Commercial Companies and the Ultimate 
Parent Company’s Articles of Association, 10% of net profit has to be 
appropriated to legal reserve. Accordingly, 10% of the profit before 
contributions to taxes has been appropriated to Legal Reserve. The legal 
reserve can be utilized only for distribution of a maximum dividend of up 
to 5% in years when the retained earnings are inadequate for this purpose. 

Voluntary reserve
The Ultimate Parent Company’s Articles of Association stipulates that the 
Board of Directors may propose appropriations to voluntary reserve for 
shareholders’ approval. During the year, the Board of Directors have not 
proposed any transfer to voluntary reserve. There is no restriction on the 
distribution of voluntary reserve.

The cash and cash equivalents are denominated in the following currencies:

2011 2010
Kuwaiti Dinars 1,745,982 1,211,069

US Dollars 13,467,790 6,559,617

UAE Dirham 36,594 21,000

Indian Rupees 487 2,129

Others 351,453 134,392

15,602,306 7,928,207

Kuwaiti Dinars
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11. Aircraft lease maintenance reserve
This represents provision for future maintenance of leased aircraft payable under the 
operating lease agreement and are primarily based on actual flying hours. 

12. Due to a related party
This represents short term unsecured credit facility from a related party, which is repayable 
by 30 June 2013. This carries an interest rate of Central Bank of Kuwait’s Discount Rate (CBDR) 
plus 3%. The effective interest rate as of 31 December 2011 was 5.5% (31 December 2010: 
5.5%).

13. Due to banks
This represents unsecured overdraft facility of USD 44.82 million (2010: USD 45 million) 
from a local commercial bank which carries an interest rate of 1.25% over funding cost. 
The effective interest rate as of 31 December 2011 was 3.25% (31 December 2010: 3.31%)

2011 2010
Term loans are repayable as follows:
Not later than 1 year 8,054,062 7,746,836

Later than 1 year and not later than 2 years 8,216,732 7,843,642

Later than 2 years and not later than 5 years 38,024,022 35,928,113

Over 5 years 16,514,260 27,288,583

62,755,014 71,060,338

70,809,076 78,807,174

The term loans are senior loans and are arranged through JLC, SALC-1 and Owner Trustee. They are denominated in US Dollars and represent amounts due to a local bank and a consortium of European banks. Interest on term loans are based on 3months/6 
months LIBOR. The effective interest rate as of 31 December 2011 was 1.34% to 6.52% (31 December 2010: 1.24% to 6.52%). 

The term loans are secured by a first priority charge/pledge over the shares of JLC and SALC-1 and a first priority registered aircraft mortgage over each aircraft.

Kuwaiti Dinars
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2011 2010
Trade payables 6,872,952 9,438,284

Accrued expenses 2,670,288 2,917,037

Tax payable 3,442,268 1,062,215

Staff leave payable 574,710 511,163

Others 87,365 85,558

13,647,583 14,014,257

The carrying amounts of the Group’s trade payables are denominated in the following currencies:

2011 2010
Kuwaiti Dinars 4,885,008 6,882,857

UAE Dirham 139,967 122,231

Euro 72,122 163,669

Indian Rupees 2,085 51,897

US Dollars 1,040,498 1,073,529

Others 733,272 1,144,101

6,872,952 9,438,284

14. Trade and other payables

Kuwaiti Dinars

Kuwaiti Dinars
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15. Revenue

16. Operating costs

2011 2010
Passenger revenue 47,602,302 36,758,575

Ancillary revenue 3,557,364 3,808,301

Lease rental 6,634,959 1,995,648

57,794,625 42,562,524

2011 2010
Staff costs 5,160,991 6,253,292

Depreciation 4,944,637 4,743,669

Aircraft fuel and maintenance 18,721,794 16,877,253

Overflying, landing and ground handling charges 5,081,670 6,672,001

Insurance 466,088 463,634

Lease maintenance 2,547,649 788,216

Others 2,107,733 1,484,914

39,030,562 37,282,979

Kuwaiti Dinars
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2011 2010
Staff costs 1,716,054 1,457,112

Rent 102,827 119,838

Professional and consultancy 219,600 458,890

Travel 85,805 43,509

Marketing 736,618 1,167,629

Depreciation 366,132 316,829

Others 684,771 740,763

3,911,807 4,304,570

The number of personnel employed by the Group as of 31 December 2011 was 419 (31 December 2010: 421). 

18. Restructuring costs
Costs of operations which are not expected to recur in the future periods have been restructured in connection with Group management’s decision to right size its operation in the previous year, and have been classified separately.

19. Earnings/(loss) per share
Earnings/(loss) per share is calculated based on the earnings/(loss) attributable to the equity shareholders of the Ultimate Parent Company for the year and the weighted average number of shares outstanding, as follows:

2011 2010
Earnings/(loss) for the year (in Kuwaiti Dinar) 10,555,080 (2,804,567)

Weighted average number of shares outstanding 220,000,000 219,994,775

Earnings/(loss) per share (fils) – Basic and Diluted  47.98 (12.75)

17. General and administrative expenses Kuwaiti Dinars

Kuwaiti Dinars
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20. Related party transactions and balances
In the ordinary course of business, the Group enters into transactions with related parties (directors, key managerial personnel and group companies). Pricing policies and terms of these transactions are approved by the management. Transactions and 
balances with related parties not disclosed elsewhere in these financial statements are as follows:

2011 2010
Transactions

Sale of tickets 1,998,790 1,878,849

Administration and distribution expenses 617,175 213,680

Key management compensation

Salaries and other employment benefits 709,563 631,319

Board of Directors’ remuneration - -

21. Taxes
 The Ultimate Parent Company has exemptions from tax liability under bilateral tax agreement with countries to which it operates passenger flights. However, the Ultimate Parent Company is contingently liable for any taxes that may finally be determined 
by the taxation authorities of those countries.

Kuwaiti Dinars
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22. Segment information
The Group derives their revenue primarily from operation of passenger airline service and leasing of aircraft and engines. The segment information provided to the key management for the reportable segments for the year ended 31 December 2011 is 
as follows:

31 December 2011 31 December 2010
Passenger 

airline service
Leasing of 

aircraft Total
Passenger

airline Service
Leasing of 

aircraft Total
Segment revenue 50,993,966 15,770,542 66,764,508  40,516,519 12,869,093 53,385,612 

Less: Intersegment revenue  -  (8,969,883)  (8,969,883)      - (10,823,088)  (10,823,088)

Revenue from external customers 50,993,966  6,800,659  57,794,625 40,516,519 2,046,005 42,562,524

Reportable  segment  profit/(loss) before contribution to taxes 5,339,668 5,744,680  11,084,348 (7,818,789) 5,014,222 (2,804,567)

Reportable segment’s assets and liabilities:

31 December 2011 31 December 2010

Passenger 
airline service

Leasing of 
aircraft Total

Passenger 
airline service

Leasing of 
aircraft Total

Total assets 17,355,310 158,720,784 176,076,094 12,974,694 160,214,119 173,188,813

Allocated liabilities 45,131,396  76,912,598  122,043,994 47,015,636 84,767,286 131,782,922

Un allocated liabilities -    -     28,157,821 - - 25,969,901

Total liabilities 45,131,396  76,912,598 150,201,815 47,015,636 84,767,286 157,752,823

Revenue from external customers in the ‘leasing of aircraft’ segment primarily represents lease income from aircraft leased out and operating in the United States of America.

Kuwaiti Dinars
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23. Business Combination 
During the previous year, the Ultimate Parent Company acquired 100% share capital of Al Sahaab Aircraft Leasing Company W.L.L, a Kuwaiti Limited Liability Company engaged in leasing of aircraft and engines, for a total consideration of KD25,552,422.
Details of fair value of identifiable assets and liabilities including contingent liabilties, acquired and resulting goodwill are as follows:

 

2011
Deferred  purchased consideration (fair value) 24,459,787

Less : Fair value of identifiable net assets acquired 21,016,306

Goodwill arising on acquisition 3,443,481

Goodwill arising on acquisition represents the excess of the cost of acquisition over the Ultimate Parent Company’s interest in the fair value of the identifiable assets and liabilities of the acquired subsidiary. 

The fair values assigned to the identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities are shown below:

Cash and cash equivalents 701,424

Property and equipment 125,013,267

Trade and other payables (413,636)

Borrowings (62,847,394)

Due to related parties (41,437,355)

Fair value of net assets 21,016,306

Purchase consideration settled in cash -

Cash and cash equivalents  in subsidiary acquired 701,424

Cash inflow on acquisition 701,424

Fair value of deferred consideration 24,459,787

Amortised finance cost 3,168,766

Deferred purchase consideration as at 31 December 2011 27,628,553

Kuwaiti Dinars
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24. Contingent liabilities and Commitments 
The Group has issued bank guarantee to regulatory agencies and third party service providers amounting to KD939,568 (31 December 2010: KD917,767). 

The Ultimate Parent Company has also provided guarantee to Jazeera Leasing Company, the lessor of novated lease agreement, in respect of the obligations and liabilities of the Intermediate Parent Company pursuant to the novated lease agreement. 

In accordance with the novation agreement, the Ultimate Parent Company has guaranteed the aircraft supplier the due and punctual observance and performance of all the obligations of the buyer to pay any monies falling due for payments by the buyer 
under the novated purchase agreement.

In March 2011, the Group cancelled the order for acquisition of 25 aircraft out of the remaining 29 aircraft ordered on 18 September 2007. The list price for the order of the remaining four aircraft (31 December 2010: twenty nine) is approximately 
KD78,020,000 (31 December 2010: KD569,821,000). These aircraft have to be acquired over a period of four years. The advance payments made as of the date of cancellation of the orders will be adjusted against the cost of acquisition of the remaining 
four aircraft.

25. Operating lease income
The future minimum lease rent receivable on the operating lease is KD45,295,010 (31 December 2010: KD46,797,889) and is receivable as follows: 

2011 2010
Not later than one year 6,119,154 5,355,756

Later than one year but not later than five years 24,476,616 21,423,024

Later than five years 14,699,240 20,019,109

45,295,010 46,797,889

Kuwaiti Dinars

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements - 31 December 2011
JAZEERA AIRWAYS ANNUAL REPORT 2011



43

Impact on profit/(loss) Impact on equity

Currency 2011 2010 2011 2010
US Dollar (3,576,387) (2,636,866) (1,045,203) (832,122)

UAE Dirham (4,832) (4,483) - -

Indian Rupees (80) (2,184) - -

Others (19,626) (54,327) - -

Net impact (3,600,925) (2,697,860) (1,045,203) (832,122)

A 5% strengthening of the Kuwaiti Dinars against the above currencies would have had the equal but the opposite effect on profit/equity for the year.

26. Financial risk management
financial risk factors

The Group’s use of financial instruments exposes it to a variety of financial 
risks such as market risk, credit risk and liquidity risk. The Group continuously 
reviews its risk exposures and takes measures to limit it to acceptable 
levels. Risk management is carried out by the Group Finance function under 
policies approved by the Board of Directors. This function identifies and 
evaluates financial risks in close co-operation with the Group’s operating 
units. The Board provides principles for overall risk management, as well as 
policies covering specific areas, such as foreign currency risk, interest rate 
risk, credit risk and investment of excess liquidity. 

The significant risks that the Group is exposed to are discussed below:

(a) Market risk

(i) foreign currency risk
Foreign currency risk is the risk that the fair values or future cash flows 
of a financial instrument will fluctuate due to changes in foreign currency 
exchange rates. The Group operates internationally and is exposed to 
foreign currency risk arising from various currency exposures, primarily with 
respect to the   US dollar. Foreign currency risk arises from future commercial 
transactions, recognised assets and liabilities and net investments in foreign 
operations.

Group management has set up a policy that requires Group companies to 
manage their foreign currency risk against their functional currency. Foreign 
currency risk arises when future commercial transactions or recognized 
assets or liabilities are denominated in a currency that is not the entity’s 
functional currency.

The Group is primarily exposed to foreign currency risk as a result of foreign 
exchange gains/ losses on translation of foreign currency denominated 
assets and liabilities such as trade and other receivables, deposits, cash and 
cash equivalents, trade and other payables due to banks and term loans. 
The Group’s exposure to foreign currencies have been disclosed in the Notes 
relating to the respective financial instruments.

If as at 31 December 2011, Kuwaiti Dinars had weakened against the major 
currencies by 5% with all other variables held constant the net impact on 
the profit/equity, as of 31 December 2011, is shown below:

Kuwaiti Dinars
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(ii) interest rate risk
Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a 
financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in market interest 
rates.

The Group’s interest rate risk arises from short-term deposits, bank 
borrowings and term loans. Borrowings issued at variable rates expose the 
Group to cash flow interest rate risk. Borrowings issued at fixed rates expose 
the Group to fair value interest rate risk. During 2011 and 2010, the Group’s 
borrowings at variable rates were denominated in US Dollar.

The Group analyses its interest rate exposure on a dynamic basis. Various 
scenarios are simulated taking into consideration refinancing, renewal of 
existing positions and alternative financing. Based on these scenarios, 
the Group calculates the impact on consolidated statement of income of 
a defined interest rate shift. For each simulation, the same interest rate 

(c) Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group is unable to meet its payment obligations associated with its financial liabilities when they fall due. Liquidity risk management includes maintaining sufficient cash, the availability of funding from an adequate 
amount of committed credit facilities and the ability to close out market positions. The Ultimate Parent Company’s Board of Directors increases capital or borrowings based on ongoing review of funding requirements. 

The table below analyses the Group’s financial liabilities into relevant maturity groupings based on the remaining period at the date of statement of financial position to the contractual maturity date. The amounts disclosed in the table are the contractual undiscounted 
cash flows. Balances due within 12 months equal their carrying balances, as the impact of discounting is not significant.

shift is used for all currencies. The scenarios are run only for liabilities that 
represent the major interest-bearing positions. The Group manages interest 
rate risk by monitoring interest rate movements and using Interest Rate 
Options to hedge interest rate risk exposures.

At 31 December 2011, if interest rates at that date had been 50 basis points 
higher with all other variables held constant, profit for the year would have 
been lower by KD438,077 (31 December 2010: KD456,957).
A 50 basis points decrease in the interest rates at the date of statement 
of financial position would have had the equal but the opposite effect on 
profit for the year.

(iii) Equity price risk
The Group is not exposed to equity price risk as it does not have any 
financial instrument exposed to equity price risk. 

(iv) fuel price risk
The airline industry is exposed to fluctuations in the price of jet fuel. The Group closely 
monitors the actual cost of fuel against forecasted cost. The Group utilises commodity 
rate swaps, as and when it deems necessary, to achieve a level of control over jet fuel 
costs so that profitability is not adversely affected.

(b) credit risk
Credit risk is the risk that one party to a financial instrument will fail to discharge 
an obligation causing the other party to incur a financial loss. Financial assets, 
which potentially subject the Group’s to credit risk, consist principally of bank 
deposits and receivables. The Group manages this risk by placing deposits with 
high credit rating financial institutions. Credit risk with respect to receivables 
is limited due to the Group’s credit management policies and dispersion across 
large number of customers.

The maximum exposures to credit risk of the Group are as follows:

2011 2010
Deposits 668,086 671,911

Trade and other receivables, excluding prepayments 1,344,073 1,102,382

Cash equivalents 15,586,126 7,915,684

17,598,285 9,689,977

Cash equivalents represents current and short term deposits with banks which have been given high ratings by reputed external credit rating agencies.
The Group’s trade receivables are substantially secured by bank guarantees and largely comprise of amounts receivable from reputed travel agents. Concentration of credit risk with respect to trade receivables are limited due to the Group›s customer base 
being large and unrelated. Information on the extent of credit exposure on the Group›s trade receivables is given in Note No. 6. 
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Less than 1 Year Between 1 and 2 years Between 2 and 5 years Over 5 years

31 December 2011
Term Loans 8,054,062 8,506,816 43,459,379 17,979,578
Deposits - - 1,251,580 -
Due to related party - 8,232,726 - -
Deferred purchase consideration - 29,843,099 - -
Due to banks 12,489,752 - - -
Trade and other payables 13,647,583 - - -
Advance received from lessees - - 1,362,441 -
Bank Guarantee 939,568 - - -

31 December 2010
Term Loans 7,746,836 8,090,459 39,370,229 29,667,790
Deposits - - 1,259,780 -
Due to related party - 10,665,951 - -
Deferred purchase consideration - 29,291,716 - -
Due to banks 12,584,195 - - -
Trade and other payables 14,014,257 - - -
Advance received from lessees - - 309,005 -
Bank Guarantee 917,767 - - - 

Kuwaiti Dinars
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27. Capital risk management
The Group’s objectives when managing capital are to safeguard its ability to 
continue as a going concern in order to provide returns for shareholders and 
benefits for other stakeholders and to maintain an optimal capital structure 
to reduce the cost of capital. 
In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group may adjust the 
amount of dividends paid to shareholders, return capital to shareholders, 
issue new shares or sell assets to reduce debt. 

Consistent with others in the industry, the Group monitors capital on the 
basis of the gearing ratio. This ratio is calculated as net debt divided by 
total capital. Net debt is calculated as total borrowings less cash and cash 
equivalents. Total capital is calculated as equity, as shown in the consolidated 
statement of financial position, plus net debt. As at 31 December 2011, the 
gearing ratio was 80% (31 December 2010: 89%).

28. Critical accounting judgments and 
estimates

The Group makes estimates and assumptions that may affect amounts 

reported in these consolidated financial statements. Estimates are revised 
if changes occur in the circumstances on which the estimate was based. 
The areas where estimates and assumptions are significant to the financial 
statements, or areas involving a higher degree of judgement, are:

substance of relationship with special purpose entities
Where the Parent Company obtains benefits from a special purpose entity, 
management considers the substance of the relationship to judge if the 
entity is controlled by the Parent Company. 
financial instruments carried at amortized cost
The effective yield method of calculating the amortized cost of a financial 
instrument involves the estimation of future cash flows through the 
expected life of the instrument.

impairment of assets
The Group reviews assets at each reporting date to assess whether a 
provision for impairment loss should be recognized in the consolidated 
statement of income. The process for estimating the amount of an 
impairment loss involves considerable judgement by management with 
respect to   the estimation of future cash flows.  Such estimates and 
assumptions are also based on several other factors involving varying 
degrees of judgement   and uncertainty.

Useful lives of property and equipment
The Group determines the estimated useful lives and residual values of 
property and equipment. Estimated useful lives could change significantly 
as a result of change in technology. The depreciation charge for the year 

will change significantly if actual life is different from the estimated useful 
life of the asset.

contingent liabilities
Contingent liabilities are potential liabilities that arise from past events 
whose existence will be confirmed only by the occurrence or non-occurrence 
of one or more uncertain future events not wholly within the control of 
the entity. Provisions for liabilities are recorded when a loss is considered 
probable and can be reasonably estimated. The determination of whether 
or not a provision should be recorded for any potential liabilities is based 
on management’s judgements.

29. Comparative figures
Certain comparative figures have been restated to conform to current year 
presentation but do not affect previously reported net loss or equity.
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